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Introduction

Those entering the County along a major road are informed that Warwickshire is ‘Shakespeare’s County’. The rubric implies that there is a strong link between cultural heritage – whether rooted in reality or in imaginations stirred by Bardolatry - and the distinctiveness of the County. Thus archaeology ought, at least in theory, to provide some form of factual basis for the development of this perceived County identity.

The period with which we are concerned begins with a major shift in ideology and power with the reformation, and significant redistribution of ecclesiastical wealth. The middle period sees a turbulent period of political – and ideological - struggle, whilst the end of the period is one which is on the brink of transition to an industrial society. It is of course a period not only in which a lot of building took place – the ‘great rebuilding’ – but one from which many buildings remain more or less intact. The County’s first historian, William Dugdale, lived during the middle of the period (the first edition of The Antiquities of Warwickshire was published in 1656, the second in 1730). It is a period from which we have a profusion of documents – including the first useful maps and illustrations - and in which the documentary records refer to a wider range of social classes than hitherto, with the biographies of the ‘middling sort’ as well as the gentry visible via probate inventories and the like. It is also a time which sees significant changes in the variety and nature of material culture. And yet one is left with the impression that archaeology has been under-performing in its contribution to what we know about this slice of time. There have been few targeted excavations; much of what has been recorded has been incidentally discovered on the way down to earlier layers beneath.

What follows is an attempt to characterise in brief what we know about the period from archaeological evidence, and to point to areas needing further research. It is not exhaustive and the author would welcome suggestions and additions.

The Countryside
As yet historic landscape characterisation has not yet been undertaken for Warwickshire and Solihull, although this is an omission which it is intended to remedy this coming year, and a project design is in preparation.

The processes of enclosure, which began at the end of the middle ages, begin to take hold during this period. The identification of areas of pre-parliamentary enclosure is reliant upon detailed analysis of documentation and is therefore related to survival of early maps; thus pre-parliamentary enclosure is mapped at places such as Cawston, Clifton on Dunsmore and Sherbourne. Historic landscape characterisation may also help to pinpoint those areas worth more detailed study. Anti-enclosure riots in 1607 culminated in the gathering at Hillmorton of 3000 people and the manifesto of the Diggers of Warwickshire, some forty years before their more famous namesakes (...Wee, as members of the whole, doe feele the smarte of these incroaching Tirants, which would grind our flesh upon the whetstone of poverty, and make our loyall hearts to faint with breathing, so that they may dwell by themselves in the midst of theyr heards of fatt weathers. Anon 1607). The owners of the herds of fat wethers  are symbolised by Peter Temple of Burton Dassett, who typifies the rise of the shrewd entrepreneur building up a business based on sheep farming as well as a variety of other ventures. Temple, who was amassing his landholdings from the 1550s to 1570s, is well known through Dr Alcock’s study (Alcock 1981), but he is by no means unique; the Spencers nearby at Wormleighton were also engaged in similar activities (Thorpe 1962). The age is also one of agricultural improvement (Thirsk 1967, 1984), with the introduction of new crops, although archaeology has shed little light directly on these changes. What is striking to anyone looking at post-war aerial photographs of the County, and not solely the classic Feldon area, is the extent of ridge and furrow; the preservation of the final open-field layout is due to a change from a predominantly arable economy to one which was predominantly pastoral, an important revolution in the countryside which it is easy to overlook.

Some desertion of settlements was still taking place. At Spernall, for example, a Throckmorton Estate map of c1695 shows properties on four sites within the settlement now deserted; two of these buildings were still extant on a map of 1746 but all had disappeared by the time of the 1844 Tithe map (Palmer 1995). Post-medieval desertions are also documented from places such as Bascote, near Southam (Litherland and Ramsey 1996), and Dodwell, near Luddington, west of Stratford, although archaeological exploration of these sites is lacking. Some interventions have produced features from the period, such as 16th century ditches and a 17th or 18th century yard at Flecknoe (Jones and Thompson 2001, Coutts and Thompson 2002), and timber structures and associated cobbled surfaces and ditches at Willey (Jones and Palmer 2000), but the extent of such evidence is limited. The concentration of endeavour upon late medieval desertions is likely to have led to under-representation of the post-medieval period in our data, and more emphasis on shrunken settlements might produce more in the way of 16th and 17th century evidence.

Designed landscapes

Another major change was the development of formal landscapes. Jonathan Lovie’s review of parks and gardens undertaken for English Heritage provides a substantial body of data for this aspect of the Warwickshire landscape (Lovie 1997). There are also a few site specific studies, including a study of the post-medieval landscape at Compton Verney (Tyack 2000), an assessment of Clopton Park (Owen and Phibbs 1995), which demonstrates the conversion of the 16th century deer park to a designed landscape in the late 17th century, and the programme of excavation at Castle Bromwich Hall, Solihull (Currie and Locock 1992, 1993), where three seasons of excavation revealed evidence for four main phases of garden (a formal layout of plant beds laid out between areas of sand and gravel in the 16th or early 17th century, a parterre garden in the 18th century, a scheme by Bridgeman unfinished at his death in 1747 and further development in the 19th century) developing from the medieval demesne. The work at Castle Bromwich showed the scope of what archaeology might reveal; botanical sampling, whilst giving relatively limited information on plants cultivated in the garden, provided additional information on management of the gardens and the outlying estate; for example the plant beds were rigorously enhanced with animal dung and ash.

Work in the gardens of Baddesley Clinton, also by Currie, recorded massive wooden pipes bored out of whole tree trunks up to 3.1m long and 0.36m wide, joined by iron ferrules; these are tentatively ascribed to the early 18th century (Currie 1994).

Buildings

Despite the quantity of survival from the period, there are only a half dozen dendrochronology dates from the period in the Vernacular Architecture Group’s Database for the County (http://ads.ahds.ac.uk/catalogue/specColl/vag_dendro/index.cfm). The beginning of the period is that of the so-called ‘great rebuilding’; Wood-Jones’ study of the houses of the Banbury region contains much relevant data for this period (Wood-Jones 1963). The gentry, particularly those in the south of the County, had been amassing wealth through sheep farming since the late 15th century, and early 16th century houses such as John Spencer’s house at Wormleighton and that of Sir Edward Belknap at Weston-under-Wetherley (the former surviving in part, the latter demolished in the 1730s) were financed from these profits (Tyack 1994).

The greater houses

At Charlecote, Thomas Lucy demolished the house on the site which his forebears had occupied since the 12th century and built a new house of brick with stone dressings in the 1550s. This was originally a two-storey hall block with side wings, which was substantially remodelled during the second decade of the 18th century. Elements of Thomas Lucy’s work have been revealed during observation of  works in the north wing, including timber framing and parts of early doorways (Coutts 2001)

The restoration of Compton Verney House (Brindle 2000) has provided an opportunity for archaeological recording. Here the medieval manor house was succeeded by a large Jacobean mansion house. The illustration by Wenceslas Hollar of 1655 for Dugdale’s Antiquities of Warwickshire shows a large house with an octagonal tower and ogee cupola.  To the left-hand side of the house is a low wing with a massive chimney which may be a kitchen or bakehouse – a wall uncovered in 1941 may relate to this building.  By this time the medieval village of Compton Murdak had been swept away.  The house was rebuilt under the direction of an unknown architect in 1714 for Lord Willoughby de Broke.  Various architectural elements of this building have been archaeologically recorded during the renovation works, such as the original 3m high door openings on the first floor. However, the major changes resulting in the house’s current form post-date 1750 (Adam’s plans are 1760).

Another piece of work where buildings analysis by Warwickshire Museum has been undertaken in conjunction with documentary study is Stoneythorpe Hall, near Southam, where the development of a late 16th century house, in the possession of the Chamberlayne family (London merchants) from 1671 can be followed in some detail (Palmer 1999a, Booth and Palmer 1999).

A programme of recording work is being implemented by Northamptonshire Archaeology at Barrels Hall, west of Henley in Arden. Much of what is visible is the work of Joseph Bonomi in the late 18th century, as well as 19th century additions, but there is an earlier building here, remodelled in brick in the 1730s by Lady Luxborough (estranged from her husband who had - quite literally - found her ‘in bed with the doctor’) (Tyack 1994, 30-32).

At Chesterton, the medieval manor house was replaced by Edward Peyto in 1657 in  a strongly classical style; the closest parallel is the Whitehall banqueting house built by Nicholas Stone to the design of Inigo Jones. Stone’s son John (1620-67) seems to have been Peyto’s architect.  Peyto had built the eclectic windmill in 1632, which still survives, along with other elements of the contemporary landscape (Wise 2000). The house was demolished in 1802. David Adams and his Warwickshire Archaeological Research Team have been endeavouring to trace the various elements of the house within its contemporary landscape. In addition, English Heritage’s Centre for Archaeology has very recently undertaken an assessment of the moated platform which was the putative site of the pre-Peyto manor house (Reilly 2003). This work has resulted, as Mark Bowden’s seminar paper describes, in a reappraisal of the landscape with the result that what were previously considered to be medieval features may now be interpreted as parts of an elaborate water garden, whilst the church was altered to take its place in a designed landscape which was effectively a piece of pro-monarchical propaganda; clearly the Chesterton complex demonstrates an important aspect of the symbolic significance of landscape in the 17th century.

Elsewhere, new houses were built upon monastic sites lost during the dissolution. Major restoration work at Stoneleigh Abbey has resulted in a programme of recording, the standing fabric by Oxford Archaeology and below-ground works by Warwickshire Museum. The abbey had been granted to the Duke of Suffolk in 1538, who sold it to two London merchants, Rowland Hill and Thomas Leigh, for £1950. The upper part of the west wing is 16th century while the lower part is the west range of the medieval cloister.  In four years of fieldwork at Stoneleigh Abbey only a handful of fragments of pottery of post-medieval date have been recovered – all of them residual.  Some of the stone-lined drains adjacent to the west wing may be 16th century but they may equally be medieval.  The grand Georgian range (1714-26) in white, contrasting markedly with the more rustic red sandstone of the medieval and Elizabethan build, overlies the ground where the west range once lay and all above ground trace of this range appear to have been razed.  There is thus plenty of evidence for the period in the form of the buildings themselves but below ground revelations have been disappointing, although more fruitful for the monastic period (C.Coutts, pers comm).

Recent work at Warwick Priory during construction of an extension to the County Record Office has revealed evidence for the foundations of the post dissolution house begun by Thomas Hawkins, a speculator in monastic property, father of Lady Jane Grey and from 1547 Earl of Warwick, which stood on the site until removed in the 1920s and reassembled in Richmond, Virginia, USA. The house had thirty six hearths by 1663, making it one of the largest in Warwickshire, and in 1709 the estate was sold to Henry Wise, Queen Anne’s gardener; Wise’s work on the gardens is described by Jonathan Lovie as ‘the most significant early 18th century landscape in Warwickshire’, although much of the work shown on the early 18th century estate plan seems not to have been carried out.  A Conservation Statement for the site was prepared by Warwickshire Museum, which also encompassed the landscape setting (Palmer 1999b). 

There has also been work at Combe Abbey which after the dissolution passed through several owners; there were several major building phases through the 17th  and 18th centuries, substantial remodelling in the 19th, and partial demolition in the earlier 20th century (Soden 2001).

There was also significant building work during the earlier post-medieval period at Warwickshire’s two largest castle sites, Kenilworth and Warwick, although relatively little archaeological work relating to this period has been undertaken. The Earl of Leicester’s entertainments of Elizabeth 1st at Kenilworth are well known; dating from this period are Leicester’s gatehouse (Booth 1992), a new lodgings range and a stable block, whilst new and larger windows were inserted into the keep and a formal, renaissance style garden inserted in the northern part of the outer ward. In 1649 the castle was slighted and the parliamentarian Colonel Hawksworth turned Leicester’s gatehouse into a house. These phases of work have been illuminated by excavations undertaken intermittently between 1970 and 1984 (Ellis 1995).

At Warwick, new work was undertaken during the reign of Henry VIII, with a kitchen built c1538 to the northeast of the domestic range which incorporated a second-hand roof which had been moved from Warwick Blackfriars. A rebuilding of the southwest block was begun in the early/mid 16th century but not completed (Booth and Palmer 1992). Elizabeth I was entertained at Warwick in 1572, though the timber-framed buildings constructed by Ambrose Dudley to accommodate her, probably over the unfinished southwest block, have not survived, and the castle site seems to have fallen into disrepair by the time of its purchase by Fulke Greville in 1601. Fulke Greville, later Lord Brooke, was spending vast sums of money in the early years of the 17th century. Where the money was spent has been thought difficult to detect, but building analysis and documentary study undertaken by Warwickshire Museum for Warwick Castle Ltd, the castle’s present managers, has recorded extensive works which generally coincide quite closely with the defects evident from surveys of 1590 and 1601 (Booth and Palmer 1996). Much of Fulke Greville’s work has been obscured by later developments, but the list is likely to include repairs to the state apartments, replacement of Queen Elizabeth’s lodging with a new stone building and the creation of a new two-arched entrance or loggia, refenestration of the chapel, extensive works to the garden including provision of parterres, the construction of the winding path up the mound and its wing walls, refurbishment including refenestration of the gatehouse and barbican, Guy’s Tower and the Watergate Tower, and the removal of other timber-framed ranges along the inner curtain. Much of this work was directed towards conversion of a medieval fortress into a comfortable country house, although ironically the most serious siege in the castle’s history was yet to come. During the civil war the castle was held for the parliamentarians; after the restoration the state apartments were extensively remodelled for Lord Brooke by William Hurlbutt c1670, whilst a three-storey new building was constructed around the same time by Samuel Dunckley on the site of the former great kitchen, and the ‘little kitchen’ in the undercroft was remodelled (Booth and Palmer 1992). Dugdale described the castle as ‘a place not only of great strength, but extraordinary delight ... the most princely seat that is within these midland parts of the realm’. In 1730-2 over £350 was spent on repairs to the south side of the castle and it is likely that this involved the creation of the upper terrace or Ladies Walk above the mill (Booth and Palmer 1992).

Domestic buildings

Important recording work, although little excavation, has also been done on lesser buildings of the period. Dr Alcock’s work on Stoneleigh is an exemplar of what can be done when documentary and physical evidence are brought together (Alcock 1993). Stoneleigh is admittedly unusual, in that there are 30-odd structures in the village and as many again from the rest of the parish from between the 15th and 18th centuries, a good survival of wills and probate records (over 400 inventories from our period), and estate plans from the Leigh estate which go back to the late 16th century as well as other documentation such as rentals, manorial records and so forth. The buildings are of interest in their own right, comprising one of the best groups of timber framed structures surviving in the region. Whilst the architectural details are not especially useful for determining lifestyles, particularly in the early part of the period when the houses show rather less in the way of social differentiation and a basic two or three rooms was generally the norm, they do provide dating evidence for the houses and the means of identifying the layout and subsequent changes of the buildings. This is crucial when the evidence from the probate inventories is added. Three quarters of the inventories go through the houses of the deceased room by room. The opportunity to match householder to building, and in many cases objects to identifiable rooms, provides a level of detail rarely achievable, although it is encouraging to see other programmes of research attempting similar linkages, such as that being undertaken by a group in Atherstone who are combining documentary study with building recording, under guidance from Nat Alcock and Bob Meeson with Local Heritage Initiative funding. What we lack at Stoneleigh, and are perhaps relatively unlikely to achieve within the foreseeable future, is a body of associated of archaeological evidence. It is interesting to speculate what additional complementary evidence might be yielded if we could recover the finds associated with these structures (which in turn means understanding rubbish disposal practices). How would they reflect the probate inventories? For the documentary evidence cannot tell the full picture; as Dr Alcock points out the manorial records are biased towards activities which need a measure of control, thus swine-keeping is better documented than, say, cheese making (Warwickshire cheese was apparently Queen Anne’s favourite).

Elsewhere, standing building survey and analysis has been undertaken at a number of sites by Dr Alcock and others (eg Wilkins and Alcock 1980; Alcock 1996), on occasion in conjunction with archaeological work; for example the probable 17th century Cutlin Mill Cottage (Alcock, Meeson and Meeson 1998), associated with a now vanished corn mill, later converted to an oil mill, on the River Stour. Subsequent observation of new foundation trenches to the rear of the cottage did not reveal any further structures (Coutts 2002)

Moated sites were of course still occupied, and some sites have shown post medieval phases. This is the case at Old Knowle Hall, the subject of work by the Solihull Archaeological Society (typescript and ms reports in Solihull Sites and Monuments Record, ref  SI-3086), and at  Kingshurst (also Solihull), where recent work by John Moore Archaeological Associates has revealed the presence of a post-medieval structure (date uncertain) overlying traces of another.

Places of Worship

Most churches were of course already built by the 16th century, and there is little in the way of new sites, although repairs, extensions and rebuilding took place. The main changes in many churches will have been in terms of the fittings and also with the increase in conspicuous display manifested by funerary monuments. Recent work has included investigations at Stoneleigh and Compton Wynyates.

At Stoneleigh, the recent refurbishment of the important monument of 1668 to Alice, Countess Dudley, has revealed not only evidence for the manner in which sumptuous monuments can sometimes disguise poor quality workmanship in the assembly, but also traces of the decorative scheme of the later 16th century in the chancel prior to construction of the monument. This included a text, which ended with words from 1 Peter 3 v12,  within a strapwork frame (Warwickshire Museum: report in prep.). 

At Compton Wynyates a chapel was built by the third earl of Northampton in 1665 on the site of an earlier church destroyed during the civil war. Recent work by Simon Bray has located traces of the earlier structure and recorded the collection of coffins in the crypt; an important and documented group of funerary remains from a wealthy family including anthropomorphic lead coffins.

Amongst other church buildings worthy of note from the period are Astley, where the chancel of 1607 was added to a nave which had been itself the chancel of a 14th century collegiate church (Brown 1981), and St Mary’s, Warwick, substantially rebuilt after the fire of 1694 and described by Pevsner as ‘the most important Early Gothic Revival church outside London’ (Pevsner and Wedgwood 1966, 36).

Funerary monuments come into vogue during this period and reflect changing attitudes towards death, the body and the self, as well as providing a corpus of data about the tastes of the times and how people – or their close relatives – saw themselves (Gittings 1984, 1999, Houlbrooke 1999, Pevsner and Wedgwood 1966, 29-32).

Nonconformist chapels have been surveyed by the Royal Commission on Ancient and Historic Monuments in England (RCHME 1986). There are a few buildings of the Old Dissenting tradition from the period: 17th century Quaker meeting houses at Ettington (where original fittings survive) of c1659, Shipston on Stour and Warwick, and Armscote in 1705, together with the Old Presbyterian meeting house of 1727 at Bedworth. 

The chapel at Burton Dassett, although technically non-conformist, fell outside the remit of the RCHME survey; the structure is medieval, but in 1632 Lady Throckmorton added a priest’s house and the chapel became a place of  Catholic worship in a period of difficulty for recusants. The structure has been recorded by Warwickshire Museum and further observations undertaken during recent refurbishment of the structure. (The Throckmorton’s chapel at Coughton Court was burnt by a Protestant mob at the time of the glorious revolution in 1688, although archaeological work in its presumed vicinity has not found direct evidence for the structure; Evans 2001).

Towns

There are numerous instances in the County Sites and Monuments Record of discoveries of features and finds assemblages for the period. Unfortunately few of the features are present in sufficient quantity to provide particularly detailed analysis, and few of the finds are from securely dated contexts. This may be in part due to a change in the nature of archaeological deposits from the period, as soil build-up had by now ceased due to changes in building construction and patterns of rubbish disposal, so that post-medieval buildings stand at the same level as more recent ones, rendering them more vulnerable to complete removal during 19th and 20th century redevelopment. Thus sites in key positions in towns have tended to yield disappointing results; we have gained more from inspection of the standing structures and the urban topography. One of the only small town sites to have yielded modest positive results is Atherstone where excavations in the Market Square uncovered a series of surfaces from the medieval and later periods, as well as rubble, including column fragments, interpreted as the remains of a 16th or 17th century market building shown as being on the east side of the market place on a plan of 1716 (Eyre-Morgan 1994). On the other hand a number of interventions at Henley in Arden have failed to produce much in the way of significant evidence for either the medieval or the post-medieval period.

Warwick

By the time of Speed’s map of 1610 the town defences had disappeared and in some instances (north of the west gate and along Bowling Green Street) had been built over. There is also evidence for quarrying at the lower end of The Butts, northwest of the east gate (Jones forthcoming). Comparison of the 1610 map with that of 1711 (Fish and Bridgeman; Warwickshire Museum 1977) shows changes during the period, during which the fire of 1694 which destroyed 150 of the town’s buildings was the most significant event (Farr 1992).  Much of the architecture of the present day town centre immediately post-dates the fire, and the rebuilding involved changes to the town plan (Wallsgrove 1995).  Evidence for the fire is found occasionally during archaeological recording; but whilst post-medieval features and artefacts are often encountered the contribution of archaeology to the story of urban development is minor. There is possible evidence for a Whitawyer’s yard on the south side of the Avon at Bridgend in the 17th and 18th century, where fine leather was tanned for glove making, and there is documentary evidence for smithing in the suburb, where there is archaeological evidence for this activity during the medieval period (Cracknell 1990). Elsewhere, sites on the periphery of the town such as those examined on Coventry Rd on the edge of the eastern medieval suburb (Jones and Coutts 2000), or at Bread and Meat Close on the northwest (Thompson and Wright 2003) have yielded little demonstrably later than the 14th century or earlier than the 18th. Another site on the periphery of the town, Hutfields Garage, adjacent to the leper hospital in Saltisford, yielded traces of a paved brick floor of probable late 17th or early 18th century date; its burnt surface and the recovery of slag from the layer above it may suggest some form of industrial activity here (Jones 2002, 2003).

Stratford upon Avon 

It is difficult to discuss the town without reference to its most famous son. There have been proposals to nominate Stratford as a World Heritage Site on the basis of its Shakespearean connection, although whether such a designation would influence future investigations is difficult to tell. Much survives from Shakespeare’s day above ground (Bearman 1988), although investigations of archaeological deposits have been disappointing. In the 1540s Leland described the town as ‘reasonably well builded of timber’. By Elizabethan times it can be shown that houses on Sheep Street were comparatively small compared to those on the High Street, which was the more important business centre (the Shrieve’s House and No. 42 Sheep Street being exceptions; Jones 2001a).  Two disastrous fires affected the north side of Sheep Street in 1594/5 and 1614 (there was another serious fire in the town in 1641 and an outbreak of plague four years later) and a number of the existing properties date from the reconstructions which followed.  Most of the earliest surviving structures on Sheep Street date from the 16th or 17th centuries, some with altered facades (e.g. Nos. 3, 5, and 32-3), though it has been suggested that No. 31 is of possible medieval origin (Bearman 1988, 51).  Archaeological work in Sheep St (r/o 10/11 Sheep St) uncovered a 16th century malting oven (Jones 2001b).  

Shakespeare’s father was a glover, and evidence of clay lined pits probably used for tanning and dating to the 15th or 16th century have been found at 7-9 Henley St, within 60m of Shakespeare’s birthplace (Jones1999). On the Birthplace site itself, investigation on the site of former outbuildings revealed a post-med cellar cutting a late 15th or early 16th century pit and a deeper pit, probably an 18th century cess pit; unfortunately mid-19th century restoration following purchase of the Birthplace had removed much of what survived in the way of outbuildings associated with the 16th century house (Jones and Palmer 1996).

Industry 

The most important industrial evidence for this period comes from the north of the county where ceramic and extractive industries were based.

Ceramic industry

The pottery production area of Chilvers Coton, near Nuneaton, was one of the most prolific in the county with pottery production from the early 13th through to the 17th century (Mayes and Scott 1984).  The Heath End area of Chilvers Coton is probably the ‘Potter’s Coton’ mentioned in a document of 1374; a name which remained in use until at least 1799. Raw materials, in the form of clay, coal and water, were abundant locally.  The early clay-working sites concentrated along an outcrop of Etruria Marl (Gooder 1984, 3), and there is a reference to a clay-working site at Chilvers Coton of the late 13th century as Muddimansland (ibid 14).  Potters names are attested in the area in documents dating from the early 13th century onwards.  The pottery range begins with fine white wares in the 13th century and develops through red, sandy wares to the later Midland Purple and Cistercian wares and finally to slip wares in the 17th century.

The Polesworth pottery industry was first documented in the 1688 estate accounts of Sir Richard Newdegate of Arbury Hall, Nuneaton. Physical evidence for this industry came to light as a result of fieldwork undertaken by the Atherstone Archaeological Society in the 1970s and 1980s, the most important being the recovery of early 18th century material including slip-decorated vessels, lead-glazed jugs, pancheons and jars, unglazed horticultural wares, yellow wares and blackwares, as well as kiln furniture, from a large waster dump to the east of Potters Lane (Melton and Scott 1999). The parish registers refer to other ceramic trades in the late 17th and early 18th centuries, including brickmakers John and Daniel Ward and a tobacco pipemaker Emmanuel Connaway (between 1682 and 1718), one of whose products was found amongst the wasters. The industry continued into the beginning of the 19th century.

These two manufacturing sites were not unique. Building in brick had gradually been coming into vogue (the earliest major brick building in Warwickshire was probably Fulbrook Castle, built by the Earl of Bedford in the early 15th century and already ruinous by 1478), and the demand for brick will have accelerated in the 17th century. Drainage works at Compton Wynyates at the beginning of the 20th century revealed traces of the kilns for the bricks used to build the house (probably the earliest major brick survival in the county)  in the early 16th century, situated some 200m to its north (Warwickshire SMR WA 2094), whilst a kiln of this period was investigated at Atherstone (Scott and Ory 1980); the existence of other production centres may also be inferred (Locock 1991).

Coal Mining

The history of the Warwickshire coalfield has been studied by Dr Eric Grant (Grant 1982) and more recently by Alan Cook (pers comm). Documentation of the industry begins in the 13th century. The apparent initial focus in the environs of Nuneaton may just reflect the better survival of documents relating to holdings of Nuneaton Priory; it would be surprising if the deposits around Bedworth and further south were not worked at this period.

The period between the 16th and 18th centuries saw increased demand for coal, stimulated by the potential Coventry market. By the end of the 17th century shaft mining was beginning to replace open works and bell pits. Grant plots documented evidence for mining in a more or less continuous strip from Dordon down to Wyken, NE of Coventry. The coal was won by entrepreneurs, but there seem to have been problems encountered such as water, and it is suggested that many collieries were unlikely to be in production for more than one year in three. At this point however there is little field evidence demonstrably of the period; much will have been obscured by later and more extensive works, but it is still an area where detailed fieldwork might give results.

Other Industry

Thirsk has suggested an association of industry with wood pasture regimes, where lower labour demands of a pastoral economy allowed workers to take on additional employment (Thirsk 1969). Whilst it is true that the pottery industries and coal mining take place away from the classic arable area of the Feldon this is as likely to be a result of opportunism resulting from local economic geology. 

Quarrying must have been a significant activity. Wood-Jones (1963) suggests that the style of buildings in the Banbury region was constrained by the availability of suitable marlstone. In some regions stone would have had to have been imported. It is interesting to note that much of the bridge over the Stour at Halford, in the Lias area, is constructed of oolite, with some Warwick stone (Palmer 1998). However, much remains to be done in identifying the extent of the small-scale quarrying which would have taken place to satisfy local needs within parishes.

The needle-making industry in the Arrow Valley has been studied by Dr Paul Collins (Collins 1994). The industry was certainly in existence by the 1730s, when Washford Mill in Studley was converted from a corn-milling establishment to needle making; most needle mills were conversions of corn mills. However most of the development of this industry belongs to the late Eighteenth and early 19th century.

Other studies include that of Bidford Grange mills, again by Dr Paul Collins, showing development of the site from corn-milling through fulling to other uses including paper-milling by 1729 (Collins, Smith and Haddad 1991).

Communications

The era of canals belongs largely to the period after 1750 (Hadfield 1966). However, during the 1630s William Sandys made the Avon navigable for barges of up to 30 tons as far as Stratford, inserting weirs and flash locks and possibly pound locks. The extent of his work is not entirely certain, but further improvements were made during the 17th century, for example by Andrew Yarrington – who incidentally had plans – unrealised – for two new towns in the vicinity (Hadfield  and Norris 1962).

This is also the period in which turnpikes began, the earliest in Warwickshire being that from Old Stratford (Northants) to Dunchurch in 1707, with further stretches soon following. The greatest number of turnpike acts were passed around the end of our period in the mid 18th century (Cossons 1946)

Bridges

The main river crossings were already bridged by this time, and the main era of turnpike bridges was yet to come. Quarter sessions records and other documents refer to repair of bridges during the period, and those from 1625 have been published in the Warwickshire County Records series; unfortunately the frequency of repairs over centuries and the lack of diagnostic features mean that it is rarely possible to equate the documentation with the physical fabric. A preliminary survey of County road bridges was undertaken by Warwick Museum in 1997 (unpublished; archive at Warwick Museum). A study of Halford bridge suggests that the earliest phase identified of the existing fabric is to be dated to the period between the 15th and early 17th centuries, with repairs to the upper part of the main bridge in the later 17th century (Palmer 1998), whilst much of the fabric of the bridge over the river Leam at Hunningham is likely to date to a rebuild of 1651.

The Civil War

The Midlands was an area of key significance during the civil war. A number of the larger houses were garrisoned and some were attacked, but the various skirmishes and troop movements through the County have left relatively little that has been encountered during archaeological investigation. The siege at Warwick Castle and the slighting of Kenilworth have already been mentioned. A bulwark was built at Warwick Castle against the original motte (Booth and Palmer 1995), and in addition there is evidence for works on the top of the motte, where excavations have shown the foundations of the shell keep to be overlain by a thick layer of soil (which contained a farthing of Charles 1st) and there are timber settings in the stone structure which are probably the remnant of an artillery platform. There are also loops added to the Watergate tower and the wall up to the top of the mound at this period (Nick Palmer pers comm). Compton Wynyates was captured for Parliament after a siege in 1644; the church as we have seen was destroyed, but there was relatively little damage to the early Tudor house (Rigold 1971).

Other signs of these troubled times are to be seen in repairs to Clopton Bridge outside Stratford, where a single arch of the bridge had been destroyed by parliament (Tennant 1996). Halford Bridge was also slighted at this time, although as no trace of obvious damage is evident from the fabric it may be that the carriageway was taken up but the parapet preserved, in order to facilitate repair more readily in peaceful times (Palmer 1998).

The big set-piece battle in the county, though inconclusive, was that of Edgehill. Much of the battlefield area is on MoD land now partially occupied by the Kineton Defence Munitions establishment – an important piece of 20th century archaeology in its own right. Dr Tony Pollard of Glasgow University undertook investigations here in 2002 for a TV series on British battlefields (Pollard and Oliver 2003). This work included a metal detector survey which complemented the work of Captain Scott who had been stationed at Kineton in the 1970s, and which revealed two concentrations of finds – musket balls, grape shot, buttons, horse harness, knife blades and buckles, which seem to correspond to the positions of the two opposing armies. Further metal detector survey to the north by the River Dene crossing at Kineton recovered several pistol balls, indicating the presence of cavalry; several of these still had the casting sprues and were thus likely to have been unfired (unlike the musket balls from the main battlefield area, many of which showed signs of having been flattened on impact). Taken together with items such as pewter spoons the assemblage seems to indicate the position of the parliamentary baggage train.

As part of the same study small-scale excavation was undertaken at two sites to examine buildings which would have been part of the battlefield landscape. One of these sites was Old Radway Church, replaced in the 19th century by a church on a different site, which would have been on the periphery of the battlefield behind Royalist lines. The other was at Kings Leys Barn, which, according to the account made by King James II who had been present (as the Duke of York) at the battle, had been a Royalist casualty clearing station. In both instances building foundations were recorded.

Conclusions

This brief account shows that archaeological endeavours have been focussed upon the larger houses, but otherwise archaeology has not made as great a contribution to our understanding of the period as it might. Shakespeare’s Warwickshire has been better served by the historian. There are a number of avenues for future research, identification of which will form the next stage of the frameworks process.

Historic Landscape Characterisation is due to commence shortly, and an extensive urban survey, English Heritage funding permitting, is also on Warwickshire Museum’s list of objectives. The Museum is also conscious of the need to enhance the Sites and Monuments Record in respect of industrial data, which should assist with the recognition of the early evidence for industry.

There is a need to identify and seize opportunities for recovering finds assemblages from datable and relevant contexts, for the study of suitable assemblages of faunal and plant remains, and for analysis of human skeletal assemblages. There may also be scope for fieldwalking to demonstrate areas of settlement and the material culture of their inhabitants.

We need to continue to take opportunities to integrate below ground archaeology with studies of standing fabric, particularly where the one informs the other. The dearth of excavation of rural and village buildings also needs to be addressed. There are also specific building types such as mills where much could usefully be done.

Most importantly, we need to assert that what we have to offer from our perspective is not just the poor relation of documentary history but something worthwhile in its own right which we can bring to cross-disciplinary studies. Archaeology has the potential to address issues of material culture which are unrecorded or inadequately reported in written sources. It is important, too, that research is the basis for sound conservation measures, translated where necessary into policies which are consistent across the County; to take a single instance, Dr Lovie’s (1997) report on parks and gardens notes the inconsistencies between local plan policies in respect of designed landscapes. The period under consideration is one where historic environment conservation responsibilities rest between, inter alia, archaeologists, conservation officers and planners; the research framework is crucial to improving the dialogue between these parties.
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